Heat acclimation for protection from exertional heat stress (Protocol)

Minett GM, Skein M, Bieuzen F, Stewart IB, Borg DN, Bach AJE, Costello JT



This is a reprint of a Cochrane protocol, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2016, Issue 1

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com

WILEY

TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER						1
ABSTRACT						1
BACKGROUND						1
Figure 1						3
OBJECTIVES						4
METHODS						4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS						7
REFERENCES			•		•	7
APPENDICES						11
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS						12
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST			•			12

[Intervention Protocol]

Heat acclimation for protection from exertional heat stress

Geoffrey M Minett¹, Melissa Skein², Francois Bieuzen³, Ian B Stewart¹, David N Borg¹, Aaron JE Bach¹, Joseph T Costello⁴

¹School of Exercise and Nutrition Sciences and Institute of Health and Biomedical Innovation, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia. ²School of Human Movement Studies, Charles Sturt University, Bathurst, Australia. ³Laboratory of Sport, Expertise and Performance - EA 7370, French National Institute of Sport (INSEP), Paris, France. ⁴Department of Sport and Exercise Science, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth, UK

Contact address: Geoffrey M Minett, School of Exercise and Nutrition Sciences and Institute of Health and Biomedical Innovation, Queensland University of Technology, Victoria Park Road, Kelvin Grove, Brisbane, Queensland, 4059, Australia. geoffrey.minett@qut.edu.au. geoffreyminett@gmail.com.

Editorial group: Cochrane Work Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 1, 2016.

Citation: Minett GM, Skein M, Bieuzen F, Stewart IB, Borg DN, Bach AJE, Costello JT. Heat acclimation for protection from exertional heat stress. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD012016. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012016.

Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

This is the protocol for a review and there is no abstract. The objectives are as follows:

To assess the effects of heat acclimation interventions aimed at protecting health and performance from exertional heat stress.

BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

High ambient temperatures and relative humidities increase metabolic heat gain accompanying exercise and are associated with increased physiological strain and reduced physical work capacity (Wendt 2007). Indeed, wherever excessive imbalances occur between the thermal energy stored and that dissipated to the environment, heat-related illness can occur. Often referred to as heat injury, heat-related illnesses describe a range of conditions that include heat rash (miliaria rubra), fluid retention, muscle cramp, fainting, heat exhaustion and heat stroke (Bouchama 2002). In

extreme cases, excessive rises in core temperature above 40° C result in central nervous system dysfunction, cellular death and multiple organ failure (Coris 2004; Glazer 2005; Sharma 2003). The young and elderly may be vulnerable to extreme heat events

(Kovats 2008), though heat illnesses associated with physical exertion are also experienced by athletes, manual labourers and military personnel, particularly when not acclimatised (Bouchama 2002).

The health and financial effects of heat-related illness on everyday life as well as occupational and sports settings are rising, as the increased intensity, duration and frequency of heat wave conditions associated with global climate change take effect (Huang 2011; Luber 2008). Chinese data highlight a 4.5% increase in

hospital admission rates with every 1° C increase in mean daily

temperature above 29° C (Chan 2013), with similar trends reported in Australia (Bi 2011) and the United States of America (USA) (Green 2010). Compounding this elevated burden on the healthcare sector, modelling by Dunne 2013 indicates heat stress to have impaired global labour capacity by up to 10% in recent decades, with this likely to double in peak summer by 2020. The economic consequences of this reduced work are marked, with

Heat acclimation for protection from exertional heat stress (Protocol) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

estimated net costs of USD 2.4 trillion by 2030 attributed to heatrelated reductions in work productivity alone (DARA 2012).

Although the risk of exertional heat illness may be reduced by using air conditioning, scheduling physical activity in the coolest time of the day and maintaining adequate hydration (Gupta 2012; Michelozzi 2014), accustomed exposure to hot weather is not always possible. For example, variability in extreme weather patterns (i.e. El Niño and La Niña) (McGeehin 2001), inter-seasonal travel (Hanna 2011), geographic location (Grundstein 2015), and the need for protective equipment in occupational, military, and sporting contexts (Cheung 2000; Holmér 2006; Montain 1994) each unavoidably increase thermal strain.

Heat acclimation is regarded as the most effective means of protecting health against thermal strain. It involves a series of (natural or artificial) exposures to hot conditions in order to invoke physiological adaptations that optimise heat loss mechanisms (Taylor 2006). Importantly, enhanced thermoregulatory efficiency achieved through acclimation may maintain work rate in hot conditions (Chalmers 2014; Lorenzo 2010) and is included in health and safety recommendations for various sports, occupational and military populations (CA DoOSH 2015; Racinais 2015; US Army 2003).

Description of the intervention

Heat acclimation involves a series of adaptations that reduce physiological strain in hot conditions by optimising avenues for heat loss. The treatment requires repeated exposures to an elevated body temperature that can be achieved using passive (i.e. nonactive heat absorption from the surrounding environment), active (i.e. heat production caused by greater energy metabolism during exercise), or combinations of both methods. Passive heat acclimation methods include using climate chambers, saunas, water baths and vapour barrier suits (e.g. Fox 1963; Scoon 2007; Stanley 2015; Zurawlew 2015). Exercise-induced heat acclimation may be achieved using constant work-rate (fixed duration or controlled hyperthermia) or self-paced exercise protocols that are usually undertaken in environmental conditions that are hot or humid or both (e.g. Armstrong 1986; Garrett 2009; Gibson 2015; Houmard 1990). Typically, these exposures are administered for 30 to 120 minutes and are repeated across multiple days. Accepted definitions of heat acclimation processes are: up to seven exposures (short-term heat acclimation), eight to 14 exposures (mediumterm heat acclimation), and 15 or more exposures (long-term heat acclimation) (Chalmers 2014; Garrett 2011). Adaptations to heat exposure is never permanent. According to Givoni 1973, heat adaptation is lost every day spent without heat exposure at a rate that is twice as fast as the rate with which the heat adaptation was initially gained.

Recommendations for athletes to follow heat acclimation protocols have become increasingly common as a means to protect both health and physical performance during major competitions in hot environments (Chalmers 2014; Guy 2015; Racinais 2015). Occupational safety and health concerns regarding heat-related illness in industry (e.g. military, agriculture, construction, landscaping, oil and gas extraction, and transport) have also led to statelegislated standards that emphasise acclimation (or acclimatization) awareness in the USA (CA DoOSH 2015; Washington State Legislature 2012). However, even in the South African mining industry, where evidence for the use of heat acclimation interventions is long standing (Wyndham 1969), consensus on evidencebased best practice remains elusive. Regardless, to optimise the heat acclimation response, all variables (e.g. environmental temperature and humidity, exercise mode, exercise intensity, exposure duration and number of exposures) should be considered within the logistical and economic constraints of the setting.

How the intervention might work

Humans regulate core temperature through changes in autonomic (e.g. sweating and shivering) and behavioural (e.g. work rate) thermo-effector responses (Cabanac 1977; Hartley 2012; Schlader 2009). During physical exertion in hot conditions, heat is gained through both endogenous (i.e. increased metabolism required to complete work) and exogenous sources (i.e. transferred from the surrounding environment) (Wendt 2007). The maintenance of core temperature within a homeostatic range at rest (~36.8 \pm 0.5

[°] C) (Hanna 2015) is mostly achieved via convection of heat to the skin surface and radiation of heat to the surrounding environment (Sawka 1996). However, once core temperature meets or exceeds that of the external environment, sweating provides the main heat loss mechanism through evaporation (Sawka 1996). Relative humidity, air flow and skin exposure to the external environment all influence evaporative heat loss and when compromised (e.g. when wearing personal protective equipment), exacerbates heat strain and leads to people working slower or for shorted periods of time to avoid excessive thermal injury (Marino 2004; Tatterson 2000; Tucker 2006).

Notably, repeated exposures to an increased core temperature achieved via exercise, environmental means, or both, induce physiological adaptations associated with greater thermal tolerance (Armstrong 1991; Garrett 2011; Taylor 2006). Acclimation to a hot environment evokes a complex multi-system response that results in improved rates of heat loss that are associated with cardiovascular, endocrine and nervous system changes (Francesconi 1996). The classic signs of heat acclimation include a lowered heart rate, cooler body temperature (core and skin), and earlier and larger sweat responses to exercise in hot conditions (Sawka 1996). These adaptations may be associated with plasma volume expansion stimulated by repeated heat exposures (Nielsen 1993; Patterson 2004; Senay 1976), which are attained via altered kidney function that maintains body water and electrolyte concentrations (Francesconi 1996). This allows for the maintenance of skeletal muscle blood flow during exercise (Chalmers 2014) and evaporative cooling by sweating (Libert 1983; Nadel 1974), while reducing the risk of dehydration.

The physiological adaptations experienced during heat acclimation markedly enhance thermal comfort (Daanen 2011; Petersen 2010; Sunderland 2008) and lower ratings of perceived exertion in hot conditions (Armstrong 1991; Castle 2011; Pandolf 1977). This is key as the combination of both lowered physiological and perceptual demands allow for longer tolerance times and more work to be completed in the heat (Chalmers 2014; Lorenzo 2010). However, physiological adaptations are variable depending on acclimation mode, duration and frequency, and individual responses will impact subsequent thermal tolerance and physical performance (Lambert 2008; Racinais 2012; Racinais 2014). Moreover, it should be noted that the protective and performance benefits of heat acclimation are limited (Hanna 2015), and in extreme weather, high task motivation or confidence in heat tolerance or both should not come at the expense of appropriate work-rest schedules (Lucas 2014). To guide the scope of the review, we developed a logic model (Figure 1) in accordance with Anderson 2011 that outlines: 1) potential benefits and 2) adverse effects of heat acclimation interventions in alleviating exertional heat stress.

Figure 1. Logic model describing the potential benefits and adverse effects of heat acclimation



Why it is important to do this review

Exertional heat illness is a major concern amongst applied practitioners (Casa 2015) and its rising incidence rate in physically active populations is likely to be exacerbated as global warming continues (Brocherie 2015; Lucas 2014; Mueller 2012). Considering the health concerns and the associated costs to industry and government, it is important that there are evidence-based guidelines to best inform heat acclimation procedures (Taylor 2006). The effects of heat stress on active paediatric and adolescent populations have been given a lot of attention (Bergeron 2011; Casa 2009; Marshall 2010). However, there are no practical recommendations available that are based on empirical evidence (Armstrong 2007; Bergeron 2005). A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of eight small studies (including six observational and two randomised controlled trials) reported short-term heat acclimation (\leq 7 exposures) to increase aerobic performance outcomes (Chalmers 2014). While Chalmers 2014 has practical implications for athletes and coaches involved in team sports, outcome mea-

sures were restricted to athletic performance only. Applications of the heat stress Standard ISO 7243 indicate greater work tolerance of a high wet bulb globe temperature (i.e. a heat stress index that incorporates temperature, humidity and radiation) following acclimation (Parsons 2006), without detailing how this is achieved. Accordingly, questions remain as to the optimal dosage effects of heat acclimation, underlying mechanisms, and the potential for adverse outcomes on health and performance across all populations and contexts (e.g. occupational, military, and sports).

OBJECTIVES

To assess the effects of heat acclimation interventions aimed at protecting health and performance from exertional heat stress.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We will include randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and quasi-RCTs. Quasi-RCTs will be included to incorporate field-based studies whereby true randomisation is practically difficult (e.g. when the intervention is administered to a group of workers). We will include studies reported as full-text, those published as abstract only, and unpublished data.

Types of participants

We will include studies conducted with adult participants (aged 18 or above), with no restrictions on gender, type or level of exercise or physical activity. We will include relevant field- and laboratorybased trials in which the participants are apparently healthy. We anticipate that people who have a recent history of injury or any contraindication to heat acclimation will be excluded from the original trials.

Types of interventions

We will include trials that have evaluated the effectiveness of heat acclimation, defined as the process of deliberately administering repeated heat exposures to improve thermal tolerance in hot conditions. We will include all forms of heat acclimation (i.e. active and passive) in the review. No restrictions will be placed on frequency, dose, or duration of the intervention.

We will include studies comparing heat acclimation interventions and a control (no intervention), as well as those comparing different acute heat acclimation interventions (varying in frequency, dose and duration). We will also include studies comparing heat acclimation interventions and any other intervention aimed to prevent exercise- and environment-induced heat stress, including:

- Aerobic fitness training;
- Hydration strategies (hyper- or hypohydration);
- Pre-cooling (body cooling before exercise);
- Nutritional and pharmacological supplements;
- Body composition alterations; and
- Sleep hygiene.

We will exclude trials in which the same heat acclimation protocol is used in both arms as a co-intervention. We will also exclude interventions involving multiple strategies to optimise health and performance in hot conditions where the effects of heat acclimation cannot be differentiated from the effects of the other strategies.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

1. Core temperature (e.g. rectal, aural and oesophageal)

2. Physical performance (e.g. VO_{2max} , time trial, tolerance time, muscle strength or power)

3. Complications or adverse health effects as reported by the individual trials (e.g. heat-related illness or injury)

We will exclude trials that do not report any of the primary outcomes.

Secondary outcomes

- 1. Heart rate
- 2. Skin temperature
- 3. Plasma volume
- 4. Sweat rate
- 5. Perceived exertion
- 6. Thermal sensation or comfort

Timing of outcome measures

We plan to examine the effectiveness of outcome measures on the basis of changes detected in post-intervention measures with a control or another intervention. Where experimental designs allow, we also plan to extract data post-intervention to examine the time course of acclimation decay. We expect that few studies will report multiple post-intervention measures. However, of those that do, a four week follow-up time is the typical maximal duration of studies examining acclimation decay (Armstrong 1991; Weller 2007).

Search methods for identification of studies

We will not restrict our search by language, date or publication status.

Electronic searches

The Cochrane Injuries Group Trials Search Co-ordinator will search the following:

1. Cochrane Injuries Group specialised register (present version);

2. Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials

(CENTRAL, The Cochrane Library) (latest issue);

3. Ovid MEDLINE(R), Ovid MEDLINE(R) In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations, Ovid MEDLINE(R) Daily and Ovid OLDMEDLINE(R) (1946 to present);

4. EMBASE Classic + EMBASE (OvidSP) (1947 to present);

5. PubMed (limited to non-MEDLINE indexed publications);

6. ISI Web of Science: Science Citation Index Expanded (SCI-EXPANDED) (1970 to present);

7. ISI Web of Science: Conference Proceedings Citation Index-Science (CPCI-S) (1990 to present);

8. CINAHL Plus (EBSCO) (1937 to present);

9. PEDro (Physiotherapy Evidence Database) http:// www.pedro.org.au/ (1929 to present).

10. Clinicaltrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov);

11. International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (http://apps.who.int/trialsearch/).

12. SPORTDiscus

13. Science Direct

We will adapt the MEDLINE search strategy (Appendix 1) as necessary for each of the other databases. The added study filter is a modified version of the Ovid MEDLINE Cochrane Highly Sensitive Search Strategy for identifying randomised trials (Lefebvre 2011). For EMBASE we will add the study design terms as used by the UK Cochrane Centre (Lefebvre 2011).

Searching other resources

We will screen the reference lists of all relevant articles. We will contact the lead authors of retrieved articles (experts in the field) to identify unpublished data.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

We will conduct the selection of eligible studies in two stages. First, two review authors (GMM, JTC) will independently screen titles and abstracts of the search output, and code each study as 'include' (eligible or potentially eligible/unclear) or 'exclude'. We will exclude all references that clearly do not fulfil our inclusion criteria. At the second stage, we will retrieve the full-text study reports and two review authors (GMM, JTC) will independently screen the full-text and identify studies which meet the inclusion criteria. We will also identify and record reasons for exclusion of the ineligible studies so that we can report these in a 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table. We will resolve any disagreement through discussion or, if required, we will consult a third person (MS, FB, IBS, DB or AJEB). We will identify and exclude duplicates and collate multiple reports of the same study so that each study rather than each report is the unit of interest in the review. We will record the selection process in sufficient detail to complete a PRISMA study flow diagram (Liberati 2009).

Data extraction and management

We will use a data collection form for study characteristics and outcome data, which has been piloted on at least one included study. Two review authors (GMM, JTC) will extract the following characteristics from the included studies.

1. Methods: study design, duration of study, study location, study setting, withdrawals, and date of study.

2. Participants: N, mean age or age range, gender, inclusion criteria, and exclusion criteria.

3. Interventions: description of intervention, comparison, duration, intensity, content of both intervention and control condition, and co-interventions.

4. Outcomes: description of primary and secondary outcomes specified and collected, and at which time points reported.

5. Notes: funding for trial, and notable conflicts of interest of trial authors.

Two review authors (GMM, JTC) will independently extract outcome data from included studies. We will note in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table if outcome data were not reported in a usable way. We will resolve disagreements by consensus or by involving a third person (MS, FB, IBS, DB or AJEB). One review author (GMM) will transfer data into the Review Manager (RevMan 2014) file. We will double-check that data were entered correctly by comparing the data presented in the systematic review with the study reports. A second review author (JTC) will spotcheck study characteristics for accuracy against the trial report.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors (DNB, AJEB) will independently assess risk of bias for each study using the criteria outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011). We will resolve any disagreements by discussion or by involving another author (GMM). We will assess the risk of bias according to the following domains.

- 1. Random sequence generation.
- 2. Allocation concealment.
- 3. Blinding of participants and personnel.

Heat acclimation for protection from exertional heat stress (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

- 4. Blinding of outcome assessment.
- 5. Incomplete outcome data.
- 6. Selective outcome reporting.
- 7. Other bias.

We will grade each potential source of bias as high, low or unclear risk, and provide a quote from the study report together with a justification for our judgment in the 'Risk of bias' table. We will summarise the 'Risk of bias' judgements across different studies for each of the domains listed. We will consider blinding separately for different key outcomes where necessary. Where information on risk of bias relates to unpublished data or correspondence with a trialist, we will note this in the 'Risk of bias' table.

When considering treatment effects, we will take into account the risk of bias for the studies that contribute to that outcome.

Assesment of bias in conducting the systematic review

We will conduct the review according to this published protocol and report any deviations from it in the 'Differences between protocol and review' section of the systematic review.

Measures of treatment effect

We will enter the outcome data for each study into the data tables in RevMan (RevMan 2014) to calculate the treatment effects. We will use mean differences or standardised mean differences for continuous outcomes, or other types of data as reported by the study authors. If only effect estimates and their 95% confidence intervals or standard errors are reported in studies, we will enter these data into RevMan using the generic inverse variance method. We will ensure that higher scores for continuous outcomes have the same meaning for the particular outcome, explain the direction to the reader and report where the directions were reversed if this was necessary. When the results cannot be entered in either way, we will describe them in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table, or enter the data into Additional tables.

Unit of analysis issues

For studies that employ a cluster-randomised design and that report sufficient data to be included in the meta-analysis but do not make an allowance for the design effect, we will calculate the design effect based on a fairly large assumed intra-cluster correlation (ICC) of 0.10. We base this assumption of 0.10 being a realistic estimate by analogy on studies about implementation research (Campbell 2001). We will follow the methods stated in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011) for the calculations.

Dealing with missing data

We will contact investigators or study sponsors in order to verify key study characteristics and obtain missing numerical outcome data where possible (e.g. when a study is identified as abstract only). Where this is not possible, and the missing data are thought to introduce serious bias, we will explore the impact of including such studies in the overall assessment of results by a sensitivity analysis.

If numerical outcome data are missing, such as standard deviations or correlation coefficients, and they cannot be obtained from the authors, we will calculate them from other available statistics such as P values according to the methods described in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011).

Assessment of heterogeneity

We will assess the clinical homogeneity of the results of included studies based on similarity of population, intervention, outcome and follow-up. We will consider populations as similar when they are the same professional (e.g. military and mining) or athletic group (e.g. team sports) only, or the entire population of a workplace. We will consider interventions as similar when they fall into the same category as mentioned in Types of interventions above. We will consider the measurement of rectal, aural and oesophageal temperatures as similar and term these as core temperature. We will categorise intervention durations as short-term, medium-term and long-term heat acclimation as described in the Description of the intervention above. We will categorise follow-up times directly post-intervention (within 48 hours after the final intervention session), and acclimation decay intervals every six to seven days for up to four weeks post-intervention as different.

We will use the I² statistic to measure heterogeneity among the trials in each analysis. If we identify substantial heterogeneity we will report it and explore possible causes by prespecified subgroup analysis. Values of I² will be interpreted as follows: 0% to 40% might not be important; 30% to 60% may represent moderate heterogeneity; 50% to 90% may represent substantial heterogeneity; and 75% to 100% may represent considerable heterogeneity.

Data synthesis

We will pool data from studies judged to be clinically homogeneous using Review Manager 5.3 software (RevMan 2014). If more than one study provides usable data in any single comparison, we will perform a meta-analysis. We will use a random-effects model when I² is above 40%; otherwise we will use a fixed-effect model. When I² is higher than 75% we will not pool results of studies in meta-analysis.

We will narratively describe skewed data reported as medians and interquartile ranges.

Where multiple trial arms are reported in a single trial, we will include only the relevant arms. If two comparisons are combined

in the same meta-analysis, we will halve the control group to avoid double-counting.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

Where data allow, we intend to perform the following subgroup analyses:

- Gender (male versus female)
- Physical capacity (e.g. trained versus untrained)
- Exposure dose (e.g. short versus medium versus long exposure durations; active versus passive heat exposure)

• Exercise type (e.g. low intensity versus high intensity exercise; isothermic versus fixed-intensity)

We will use the Chi² test to test for subgroup interactions in Review Manager (RevMan 2014).

Sensitivity analysis

If there is high risk of bias associated with some of the included trials, we will perform sensitivity analysis to determine whether the risk of bias significantly influences the effect size. We will consider trials to be at high risk of bias in sensitivity analysis if allocation concealment is rated as unclear or high risk, or if attrition is greater than 20%. We will also carry out sensitivity analysis to explore the effects of fixed-effect or random-effects analyses for outcomes with statistical heterogeneity and the effects of any assumptions made, such as the value of the ICC used for cluster-randomised trials. If any study at high risk of bias significantly influences the effect size, these studies will be excluded from the meta-analysis but will be reported in narrative form.

'Summary of findings' table

We will create a 'Summary of findings' table using all outcomes listed under Types of outcome measures. We will use the five GRADE considerations (study limitations, consistency of effect, imprecision, indirectness and publication bias) to assess the quality of a body of evidence as it relates to the studies which contribute data to the meta-analyses for the prespecified outcomes. We will use methods and recommendations described in Section 8.5 and Chapter 12 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011) using GRADEpro software (GRADEproGDT 2015). We will justify all decisions to downor up-grade the quality of studies using footnotes.

We will also compile an additional GRADE table showing all of our decisions about the quality of evidence and their justifications.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Ms Deirdre Beecher from Cochrane Injuries Group for her help with the search strategy and Mrs Emma Sydenham from Cochrane Injuries Group and Mr Jani Ruotsalainen from Cochrane Work Group for their help during the editorial process. We also thank Cochrane Work Group expert peer referee Hannu Rintamäki and the anonymous peer referees from Cochrane Injuries Group for their valuable feedback.

REFERENCES

Additional references

Anderson 2011

Anderson LM, Petticrew M, Rehfuess E, Armstrong R, Ueffing E, Baker P, et al. Using logic models to capture complexity in systematic reviews. *Research Synthesis Methods* 2011;**2**(1):302–12.

Armstrong 1986

Armstrong LE, Hubbard RW, De Luca JP, Christensen EL. Self-paced heat acclimation procedures. Technical Report No. T8-86, U.S. Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine, Natick, MA 1986.

Armstrong 1991

Armstrong LE, Maresh CM. The induction and decay of heat acclimatisation in trained athletes. *Sports Medicine* 1991;**12**(5):302–12.

Armstrong 2007

Armstrong LE, Casa DJ, Millard-Stafford M, Moran DS, Pyne SW, Roberts WO. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exertional heat illness during training and competition. *Medicine and Science in Sports* and Exercise 2007;**39**(3):556–72.

Bergeron 2005

Bergeron MF, McKeag DB, Casa DJ, Clarkson PM, Dick RW, Eichner ER, et al. Youth football: heat stress and injury risk. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 2005;**37**(8): 1421–30.

Bergeron 2011

Bergeron MF, Devore CD, Rice SG. Climatic heat stress and exercising children and adolescents. *Pediatrics* 2011; **128**(3):e741–7.

Bi 2011

Bi P, Williams S, Loughnan M, Lloyd G, Hansen A, Kjellstrom T, et al. The effects of extreme heat on human mortality and morbidity in Australia: implications for public health. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health* 2011;**23** (2):27S–36S.

Bouchama 2002

Bouchama A, Knochel JP. Heat stroke. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2002;**346**(25):1978–88.

Heat acclimation for protection from exertional heat stress (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Brocherie 2015

Brocherie F, Girard O, Millet GP. Emerging environmental and weather challenges in outdoor sports. *Climate* 2015;**3**: 492–521.

CA DoOSH 2015

California Division of Occupational Safety and Health. California Code of Regulations, Subchapter 7, Group 2, Article 10, Section 3395 Heat Illness Prevention. http:// www.dir.ca.gov/Title8/3395.html 2015.

Cabanac 1977

Cabanac M, Massonnet B. Thermoregulatory responses as a function of core temperature in humans. *The Journal of Physiology* 1977;**265**(3):587–96.

Campbell 2001

Campbell MK, Mollison J, Grimshaw JM. Cluster trials in implementation research: estimation of intracluster correlation coefficients and sample size. *Statistics in Medicine* 2001;**20**(3):391–9.

Casa 2009

Casa DJ, Csillan D. Preseason heat-acclimatization guidelines for secondary school athletics. *Journal of Athletic Training* 2009;44(3):332–3.

Casa 2015

Casa DJ, DeMartini JK, Bergeron MF, Csillan D, Eichner ER, Lopez RM, et al. National Athletic Trainers' Association position statement: Exertional heat illnesses. *Journal of Athletic Training* 2015;**50**(9):986–1000.

Castle 2011

Castle P, Mackenzie RW, Maxwell N, Webborn AD, Watt PW. Heat acclimation improves intermittent sprinting in the heat but additional pre-cooling offers no further ergogenic effect. *Journal of Sports Sciences* 2011;**29**(11): 1125–34.

Chalmers 2014

Chalmers S, Esterman A, Eston R, Bowering KJ, Norton K. Short-term heat acclimation training improves physical performance: a systematic review, and exploration of physiological adaptations and application for team sports. *Sports Medicine* 2014;44(7):971–88. [DOI: 10.1007/ s40279-014-0178-6]

Chan 2013

Chan EY, Goggins WB, Yue S, Lee P. Hospital admissions as a function of temperature, other weather phenomena and pollution levels in an urban setting in China. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2013;**91**(8):576–84.

Cheung 2000

Cheung SS, McLellan TM, Tenaglia S. The thermophysiology of uncompensable heat stress. *Sports Medicine* 2000;**29**(5):329–59.

Coris 2004

Coris EE, Ramirez AM, Van Durme DJ. Heat illness in athletes: the dangerous combination of heat, humidity and exercise. *Sports Medicine* 2004;**34**(1):9–16.

Daanen 2011

Daanen HAM, Jonkman AG, Layden JD, Linnane DM, Weller AS. Optimising the acquisition and retention of heat acclimation. *International Journal of Sports Medicine* 2011; **32**(11):822–8.

DARA 2012

DARA. Climate Vulnerability Monitor: A Guide to the Cold Calculus of a Hot Planet. 2nd Edition. 2012.

Dunne 2013

Dunne JP, Stouffer RJ, John JG. Reductions in labour capacity from heat stress under climate warming. *Nature Climate Change*. 2013;3(6):563–6.

Fox 1963

Fox RH, Goldsmith R, Kidd DJ, Lewis HE. Acclimatization to heat in man by controlled elevation of body temperature. *The Journal of Physiology* 1963;**166**:530–47.

Francesconi 1996

Francesconi RP. Endocrinological and metabolic responses to acute and chronic heat exposures. In: Fregly M, Blatteis C editor(s). *Handbook of Physiology*. Vol. **1**, New York: Oxford University Press, 1996:245–60.

Garrett 2009

Garrett AT, Goosens NG, Rehrer NJ, Patterson MJ, Cotter JD. Induction and decay of short-term heat acclimation. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 2009;**107**(6):659–70.

Garrett 2011

Garrett AT, Rehrer NJ, Patterson MJ. Induction and decay of short-term heat acclimation in moderately and highly trained athletes. *Sports Medicine* 2011;**41**(9):757–71.

Gibson 2015

Gibson OR, Mee JA, Tuttle JA, Taylor L, Watt PW, Maxwell NS. Isothermic and fixed intensity heat acclimation methods induce similar heat adaptation following short and long-term timescales. *Journal of Thermal Biology* 2015;**49**-**50**:55–65.

Givoni 1973

Givoni B, Goldman RF. Predicting effects of heat acclimatization on heart rate and rectal temperature. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 1973;**35**(6):875–9.

Glazer 2005

Glazer JL. Management of heatstroke and heat exhaustion. *American Family Physician* 2005;**71**(11):2133–40.

GRADEproGDT 2015

GRADE Working Group. GRADEpro Guideline Development Tool. http://www.guidelinedevelopment.org/ (accessed 17 December 2015).

Green 2010

Green RS, Basu R, Malig B, Broadwin R, Kim JJ, Ostro B. The effect of temperature on hospital admissions in nine California counties. *International Journal of Public Health* 2010;**55**(2):113–21.

Grundstein 2015

Grundstein A, Williams C, Phan M, Cooper E. Regional heat safety thresholds for athletics in the contiguous United States. *Applied Geography* 2015;**56**:55–60.

Gupta 2012

Gupta S, Carmichael C, Simpson C, Clarke MJ, Allen C, Gao Y, et al. Electric fans for reducing adverse health impacts

Heat acclimation for protection from exertional heat stress (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

in heatwaves. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue 7. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009888.pub2]

Guy 2015

Guy JH, Deakin GB, Edwards AM, Miller CM, Pyne DB. Adaptation to hot environmental conditions: an exploration of the performance basis, procedures and future directions to optimise opportunities for elite athletes. *Sports Medicine* 2015;**45**(3):303–11.

Hanna 2011

Hanna EG, Kjellstrom T, Bennett C, Dear K. Climate change and rising heat: population health implications for working people in Australia. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health* 2011;23(2 Suppl):14S–26S.

Hanna 2015

Hanna EG, Tait PW. Limitations to thermoregulation and acclimatization challenge adaptation to global warming. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 2015;**12**(7):8034–74.

Hartley 2012

Hartley GL, Flouris AD, Plyley MJ, Cheung SS. The effect of a covert manipulation of ambient temperature on heat storage and voluntary exercise intensity. *Physiology and Behavior* 2012;**105**(5):1194–201.

Higgins 2011

Higgins JPT, Green S. (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.

Holmér 2006

Holmér I. Protective clothing in hot environments. *Industrial Health* 2006;**44**(3):404–13.

Houmard 1990

Houmard JA, Costill DL, Davis JA, Mitchell JB, Pascoe DD, Robergs RA. The influence of exercise intensity on heat acclimation in trained subjects. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 1990;**22**(5):615–20.

Huang 2011

Huang C, Barnett AG, Wang X, Vaneckova P, FitzGerald G, Tong S. Projecting future heat-related mortality under climate change scenarios: a systematic review. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2011;**119**(12):1681–90.

Kovats 2008

Kovats RS, Hajat S. Heat stress and public health: a critical review. *Annual Review of Public Health* 2008;**29**:41–55.

Lambert 2008

Lambert M, Mann T, Dugas J. Ethnicity and temperature regulation. In: Marino FE editor(s). *Thermoregulation and Human Performance: Physiological and Biological Aspects.* Basel: Karger, 2008:104–20.

Lefebvre 2011

Lefebvre C, Manheimer E, Glanville J. Chapter 6: Searching for studies. In: Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.

Liberati 2009

Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2009;**151**(4):W–65-W-94.

Libert 1983

Libert JP, Candas V, Vogt JJ. Modifications of sweating responses to thermal transients following heat acclimation. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology* 1983;**50**(2):235–46.

Lorenzo 2010

Lorenzo S, Halliwill JR, Sawka MN, Minson CT. Heat acclimation improves exercise performance. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 2010;**109**(4):1140–7.

Luber 2008

Luber G, McGeehi M. Climate change and extreme heat events. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2008;**35**(5): 429–35.

Lucas 2014

Lucas RAI, Epstein Y, Kjellstrom T. Excessive occupational heat exposure: a significant ergonomic challenge and health risk for current and future workers. *Extreme Physiology and Medicine* 2014;**3**(14). [DOI: 10.1186/2046-7648-3-14]

Marino 2004

Marino FE. Anticipatory regulation and avoidance of catastrophe during exercise-induced hyperthermia. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry* and Molecular Biology 2004;**139**(4):561–9.

Marshall 2010

Marshall SW. Heat injury in youth sport. *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 2010;44(1):8–12.

McGeehin 2001

McGeehin MA, Mirabelli M. The potential impacts of climate variability and change on temperature-related morbidity and mortality in the United States. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2001;**109**(Suppl 2):185–9.

Michelozzi 2014

Michelozzi P, Bargagli AM, Vecchi S, De Sario M, Schifano P, Davoli M. Interventions for reducing adverse health effects of high temperature and heatwaves. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 4. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011072]

Montain 1994

Montain SJ, Sawka MN, Cadarette BS, Quigley MD, McKay JM. Physiological tolerance to uncompensable heat stress: effects of exercise intensity, protective clothing, and climate. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 1994;77(1):216–22.

Mueller 2012

Mueller FO, Colgate B. Annual Survey of Football Injury Research: 1931-2011. Chapel Hill: National Center for Catastrophic Sports Injuries, 2012.

Nadel 1974

Nadel ER, Pandolf KB, Roberts MF, Stolwijk JA. Mechanisms of thermal acclimation to exercise and heat. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 1974;**37**(4):515–2.

Nielsen 1993

Nielsen B, Hales JR, Strange S, Christensen NJ, Warberg J, Saltin B. Human circulatory and thermoregulatory adaptations with heat acclimation and exercise in a hot, dry environment. *The Journal of Physiology* 1993;**460**(1): 467–85.

Pandolf 1977

Pandolf KB, Burse RL, Goldman RF. Role of physical fitness in heat acclimatisation, decay and reinduction. *Ergonomics* 1977;**20**(4):399–408.

Parsons 2006

Parson K. Heat stress Standard ISO 7243 and its global application. *Industrial Health* 2006;**44**:368–79.

Patterson 2004

Patterson MJ, Stocks JM, Taylor NA. Sustained and generalized extracellular fluid expansion following heat acclimation. *The Journal of Physiology* 2004;**559**(1):327–34.

Petersen 2010

Petersen CJ, Portus MR, Pyne DB, Dawson BT, Cramer MN, Kellett AD. Partial heat acclimation in cricketers using a 4-day high intensity cycling protocol. *International Journal* of Sports Physiology and Performance 2010;**5**(4):535–45.

Racinais 2012

Racinais S, Mohr M, Buchheit M, Voss SC, Gaoua N, Grantham J, et al. Individual responses to short-term heat acclimatisation as predictors of football performance in a hot, dry environment. *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 2012;**46**(11):810–5.

Racinais 2014

Racinais S, Buchheit M, Bilsborough J, Bourdon PC, Cordy J, Coutts AJ. Physiological and performance responses to a training-camp in the heat in professional Australian football players. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance* 2014;**9**(4):598–603.

Racinais 2015

Racinais S, Alonso JM, Coutts AJ, Flouris AD, Girard O, González-Alonso J, et al. Consensus recommendations on training and competing in the heat. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports* 2015;**25**(S1):6–19.

RevMan 2014 [Computer program]

The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager (RevMan). Version 5.3. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Sawka 1996

Sawka MN, Wenger CB, Pandolf KB. Thermoregulatory responses to acute exercise-heat stress and heat acclimation. In: Fregly M, Blatteis C editor(s). *Handbook of Physiology*. Vol. **1**, New York: Oxford University Press, 1996:157–185.

Schlader 2009

Schlader ZJ, Prange HD, Mickleborough TD, Stager JM. Characteristics of the control of human thermoregulatory behavior. *Physiology and Behavior* 2009;**98**(5):557–62.

Scoon 2007

Scoon GS, Hopkins WG, Mayhew S, Cotter JD. Effect of post-exercise sauna bathing on the endurance performance of competitive male runners. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport* 2007;**10**(4):259–62.

Senay 1976

Senay LC, Mitchell D, Wyndham CH. Acclimatization in a hot, humid environment: body fluid adjustments. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 1976;**40**(5):786–96.

Sharma 2003

Sharma HS, Hoopes PJ. Hyperthermia induced pathophysiology of the central nervous system. *International Journal of Hyperthermia* 2003;**19**(3):325–54.

Stanley 2015

Stanley J, Halliday A, D'Auria S, Buchheit M, Leicht, AS. Effect of sauna-based heat acclimation on plasma volume and heart rate variability. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 2015;**115**(4):785–94.

Sunderland 2008

Sunderland C, Morris JG, Nevill ME. A heat acclimation protocol for team sports. *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 2008;**42**(5):327–33.

Tatterson 2000

Tatterson AJ, Hahn AG, Martini DT, Febbraio MA. Effects of heat stress on physiological responses and exercise performance in elite cyclists. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport* 2000;**3**(2):186–93.

Taylor 2006

Taylor NA, Cotter JD. Heat adaptation: guidelines for the optimisation of human performance: review article. *International SportMed Journal* 2006;7(1):33–57.

Tucker 2006

Tucker R, Marle T, Lambert EV, Noakes TD. The rate of heat storage mediates an anticipatory reduction in exercise intensity during cycling at a fixed rating of perceived exertion. *The Journal of Physiology* 2006;**574**(3):905–15.

US Army 2003

US Army. Heat stress control and heat casualty management. *Department of Army and Air Force Technical Bulletin* 2003;**TBMED507/AFPAM**:48–152.

Washington State Legislature 2012

Washington State Legislature. Chapter 296-62 WAC: General Occupational Health Standards. http:// app.leg.wa.gov/WAC/default.aspx?cite=296-62&full=true# 296-62-095 2012.

Weller 2007

Weller AS, Linnane DM, Jonkman AG, Daanen HA. Quantification of the decay and re-induction of heat acclimation in dry-heat following 12 and 26 days without

exposure to heat stress. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 2007;**102**(1):57–66.

Wendt 2007

Wendt D, Van Loon LJ, Lichtenbelt WDM. Thermoregulation during exercise in the heat. *Sports Medicine* 2007;**37**(8):669–82.

Wyndham 1969

Wyndham CH, Strydom NB. Acclimatizing men to heat in climatic rooms on mines. *Journal of the South African Institute for Mining and Metallurgy* 1969;**70**:60–4.

Zurawlew 2015

Zurawlew MJ, Walsh NP, Fortes MB, Potter C. Post-exercise hot water immersion induces heat acclimation and improves endurance exercise performance in the heat. *Scandinavian Journal of Science and Medicine in Sports* 2015;**In press.** [DOI: 10.1111/sms.12638]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. MEDLINE search strategy

Ovid MEDLINE(R), Ovid MEDLINE(R) In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations, Ovid MEDLINE(R) Daily and Ovid OLDMEDLINE(R)

- 1. heat stress disorders/ or heat exhaustion/ or heat stroke/
- 2. Dehydration/
- 3. Sweat/
- 4. Hot Temperature/ae [Adverse Effects]
- 5. (heat adj3 stress).ab,ti.
- 6. "sweat*".ab,ti.
- 7. ((hot or warm or humid) adj3 (condition* or temperature*)).ab,ti.
- 8. (humidity or heat).ab,ti.
- 9. adverse effects.fs.

10. 8 and 9

- 11. 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 10
- 12. adaptation, physiological/ or acclimatization/
- 13. body temperature regulation/ or skin temperature/
- 14. exercise/ or physical conditioning, human/ or resistance training/ or running/ or swimming/ or walking/ or warm-up exercise/
- 15. (walk* or run* or jog* or exercise* or swim* or warm-up or stretch* or work-out or physical).ab,ti.
- 16. (heat adj3 acclimation).ab,ti.
- 17. Acclimatization.ab,ti.
- 18. acclimation program*.ab,ti.
- 19. (acclimation and (long or short or hot or humid)).ab,ti.
- 20. "acclimation temperature".ab,ti.
- 21. 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20
- 22. randomi?ed.ab,ti.
- 23. randomized controlled trial.pt.
- 24. controlled clinical trial.pt.
- 25. placebo.ab.

Heat acclimation for protection from exertional heat stress (Protocol)

Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

26. clinical trials as topic.sh.
27. randomly.ab.
28. trial.ti.
29. Comparative Study/
30. 22 or 23 or 24 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 or 29
31. (animals not (humans and animals)).sh.
32. 30 not 31
33. 11 and 21 and 32

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

GMM led the writing of the protocol. GMM is guarantor of the protocol.

MS commented on different versions of the protocol and approved the final protocol.

FB commented on different versions of the protocol and approved the final protocol.

IBS commented on different versions of the protocol and approved the final protocol.

DNB commented on different versions of the protocol and approved the final protocol.

AJEB commented on different versions of the protocol and approved the final protocol.

JTC commented on different versions of the protocol and approved the final protocol.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Geoffrey Minett: None known.

Melissa Skein: None known.

Francois Bieuzen: None known.

Ian Stewart: Heat strain evaluation of security officers wearing personal body armour for Chubb Security Services. Expert witness in heat stress management trial for security guards wearing personal body armour for Chubb Security Services. Grant received for heat strain evaluation of EOD & CBRN personal protective clothing from Defence Science and Technology Organisation & US Combatting Terrorism Technical Support Office.

David Borg: None known.

Aaron Bach: None known.

Joseph Costello: None known.